FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 11/29/2018 2:04 PM

96598-6

NO. 77016-1

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

HEADSPACE INTERNATIONAL, LLC,

Appellant,

v.

PODWORKS CORP., and THOMAS WERTH,

Respondent

PEITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CASE NO. 17-2-01751-5 SEA, THE HONORABLE JUDGE MARY E. ROBERTS

Mark P. Walters, WSBA No. 30819 Attorney for Respondent LOWE GRAHAM JONES PLLC 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4800 Seattle, Washington 98104 T: 206-381-3300

II. Issues Presented for Review

1. Does Washington's CSA (as amended following I-502) permit an out-of-state entity to establish trademark rights in Washington by

licensing the use of a trademark on cannabis products in Washington when interstate involvement in the production and sale of marijuana remains illegal under RCW 69.50 *et seq.* and 21 U.S.C. § 801 *et seq.*? RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

- 2. Does interstate licensing of intellectual property to further the production of cannabis products trigger the operation of Article I, Section 8, Clause 3 ("the Commerce Clause") of the U.S. Constitution and Title 21 of the United States Code and therefore preclude a finding that such activity is "lawful" use in commerce? RAP 13.4(b)(3).
- 3. Does the Court of Appeals' decision to sanction out-of-state involvement in Washington's cannabis market trigger application of Article VI of the U.S. Constitution ("the Supremacy Clause") and thus preempt application of Washington's CSA, RCW 69.50 et seq., and Washington's Trademark Statute, RCW 69.50, because the decision reads these laws to effectively decriminalize an interstate conspiracy to continue a criminal enterprise which remains illegal under federal law, 21 U.S.C. 846 and 848? RAP 13.4(b)(3).

III. Statement of Facts

A. Washington's Passage of Initiative 502 and California's Cannabis Regulatory Regime

In 2012, the Washington State Legislature enacted I-502, intending Washington's cannabis industry to be a self-contained, intrastate industry so as to not trigger federal enforcement under the federal Controlled Substances Act. *See* Ballot Measure 1, Bill Text (Wash. 2012) ("The people intend to stop treating adult marijuana use as a crime and try a new approach that ... [t]akes marijuana out of the hands of illegal drug organizations and brings it under a tightly regulated, state-licensed system...."); *see also*, notes following RCW 69.50.101. To this effect, the Washington State Legislature carefully crafted provisions to ensure that Washington's cannabis industry would stay in Washington and not implicate interstate commerce and the Supremacy Clause, thereby inviting federal intervention. The Washington Court of Appeals acknowledged this intent. (App. A at 10)

The Washington State Liquor and Cannabis Board ("WSLCB") enforces numerous regulations to ensure that every entity who participates in Washington's cannabis industry is properly vetted to (a) protect consumers and (b) prevent proceeds of cannabis sales from going towards criminal enterprises. (App. A at 10) If an out-of-state entity is *directly* involved in Washington's cannabis industry, that clearly violates Washington's cannabis law and puts all parties to that transaction at risk of federal prosecution.

California has permitted medicinal use of marijuana since approximately 1996, but California only recently (November 2016) passed an initiative permitting all adults in its state to consume marijuana for personal use. *See* 2017 Bill Text CA A.B. 64, 2017 Bill Text CA A.B. 64. However, California did not begin issuing licenses to make, process, or sell cannabis for recreational use until early 2018. *Id.* Accordingly, until recently it was unlawful to make, process, or sell cannabis for recreational use under California law.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that the Washington legislature sought to avoid conflict with federal interstate commerce laws and regulations prohibiting the possession and sale of marijuana products. (App. A at 10) The Court of Appeals did not acknowledge, however, that it remains to be a crime under federal law to conspire to commit any offense as defined in the CSA (21 U.S.C. § 846), as well as to engage in the criminal enterprise of such an offense, (21 U.S.C. § 848(a)).

B. Washington's Regulatory Regime

From 2014 to the present, selling, producing, or processing cannabis products has required a license from the WSLCB. See RCW §§ 69.50.360,

363, and 366. Further, RCW 69.50.331(1)(b)(iii) throughout the relevant time period has precluded out-of-state companies from obtaining a license to participate in the Washington cannabis industry. The Washington Administrative Code ("WAC") in 2014 further provided that any applicant must have resided in the state at least three months prior to applying for a license. See WAC § 314-55-020(7) (2014). The residency requirement was increased to six months (WAC § 314-55-020(7)), and only the license recipient is permitted to use the state-issued license. See RCW § 69.50.325(2).

Additionally, the WSLCB prohibits an unlicensed third party from selling under its brand in the State. The WSLCB's FAQ section on its website makes this abundantly clear:

May an un-licensed third party marketing company sell to retailers? We are a licensed grower and have been approached by a marketing/advertising company who wants to "represent" growers under their brand. They claim to want to do all the marketing for a group of growers. They will sell their brand to the licensed retailer.

No. In regards to marijuana/infused products, an unlicensed party cannot be involved in the sale of marijuana. They could sell other things such as packaging and t-shirts.

See LCB FAQs About I-502 Advertising, http://lcb.wa.gov/mj2015/faq_i502 advertising, (emphasis original) (last visited November 1, 2018).

C. Headspace's Use of THE CLEAR

Headspace alleged that it is "a well-known seller and licensor of concentrated and refined essential plant oils including cannabis concentrates, vapor related products, educational and other services"

(CP 2 at ¶4) Headspace started using THE CLEAR trademark April 10, 2013 in California and purported to license the use of THE CLEAR in Washington. *Id*.

Headspace's Washington-based licensee is a company named X-Tracted Laboratories 502, Inc. ("XTL"). (CP 3 at ¶7) Sometime in 2014, Headspace granted XTL the right to use Headspace's "proprietary chemical process and THE CLEAR mark." *Id.* XTL "sells and distributes various marijuana related products, including cannabis concentrates, in Washington State." *Id.* According to Headspace, XTL used THE CLEAR mark on "cannabis concentrates and related products" in Washington. *Id.*

At no point has Headspace obtained a license to produce, process, or sell cannabis in this state. (App. A at 10) ¹ Accordingly, any use of the alleged mark in Washington has been by XTL, not Headspace. (CP 3 at ¶ 7) Without a Washington license, Headspace has not been able to legally make, process, sell or advertise cannabis in Washington.

Headspace sued Podworks Corp. and Thomas J. Werth (collectively "Podworks") alleging trademark infringement by Podworks' sale of cannabis-concentrate products in Washington. (CP 4 at ¶8) Headspace alleged consumers are likely to be confused by Podworks' use of CLEAR and THE CLEAR on cannabis concentrates. (CP 4 at ¶¶ 8-10)

IV. The Decision Below Raises Several Reviewable Issues

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Raises Important Questions Concerning Whether or to What Extent Washington Decriminalized Out-of-State Intellectual Property Licensing of Cannabis

Podworks is not asking to invalidate the entire marijuana regulation regime in Washington that is followed dutifully by the vast majority in-state licensees. Rather, Podworks asks whether an out-of-state entity can enjoy

¹ Current and previous applicants for licenses can be readily obtained directly from the WSLCB online at http://lcb.wa.gov/records/frequently-requested-lists; see also CP 42.

the benefits of Washington's cannabis and trademark laws while *simultaneously* avoiding the application of federal laws that deem such activity illegal. The Court of Appeals decision suggests it can, but its decision runs counter to the intent of the amendments to Washington's CSA to avoid any conflict with federal law.

1. Following I-502, Washington Decriminalized Specific Conduct Relating to the Production and Sale of Cannabis

Washington's cannabis law operates through the identification of certain conduct deemed illegal under Washington's CSA, making the identified conduct legal, or "decriminalized." For example, RCW §§ 69.50.360, 363, and 366 are each entitled "[c]ertain acts not criminal or civil offenses," and each lists certain activities that are excepted from application of Washington's CSA. For example, § 360 addresses conduct of marijuana retailers and their employees, allowing these individuals to purchase, receive, deliver, and sell marijuana in specified quantities. Similarly, §§ 363 and 366 decriminalize certain conduct of marijuana processors and producers. To the extent conduct furthers cannabis sale, processing, or production and it is *not* listed in §§ 360, 363, and 366, it remains a violation of Washington's CSA.

To qualify for protection under §§ 360, 363, and 366, an individual must be licensed by Washington and comply with state regulations of the WSLCB. *See* RCW §§ 69.50.360, 363, and 366 (providing exceptions to actions subject to the Washington Controlled Substances Act only "when performed by a validly licensed marijuana [retailer, processor, or producer]" and requiring compliance with state regulations). Further, RCW § 69.50.331(1)(c) (currently RCW § 69.50.331(1)(b)(iii)) expressly precludes out-of-state companies from obtaining a license to participate in the Washington cannabis industry, and only the license recipient is permitted to use a state-issued licensed. *See* RCW § 69.50.325(2).

2. The Amendments to Washington's Cannabis Law Which took Effect in 2017 Do not Expressly Permit Out-of-State Trademark Licensing

Consistent with the understanding that unless specifically authorized by Washington's CSA, any conduct pertaining to the production, processing or sale of marijuana remains a violation of Washington's CSA, in July 2017 Washington changed the law to allow "certain licensing agreements or consulting contracts." E.S.S.B. 5131, 65th Leg., 2017 Regular Sess. (Wa. 2017) at Section 16 (enacted), codified at RCW § 69.50.395. This amendment to Washington's CSA provides that

- [a] licensed marijuana business may enter into a licensing agreement, or consulting contract, with any individual, partnership, employee cooperative, association, nonprofit corporation, or corporation, for
- (a) Any goods or services that are registered as a trademark under federal law or under chapter 19.77 RCW;
- (b) Any unregistered trademark, trade name, or trade dress; or
- (c) Any trade secret, technology, or proprietary information used to manufacture a cannabis product or used to provide a service related to a marijuana business.

Id. at 395(1). Any such agreement, according to the amended law, "must be disclosed to the state liquor and cannabis board." *Id.* at 395(2).

Importantly, the amended law does *not* expressly authorize out-of-state trademark owners to enter into licensing agreements with in-state cannabis retailers, processors, and producers. Regardless of that fact, which itself calls into question whether an out-of-state trademark owner can currently establish trademark rights in Washington, enactment of the amended law in 2017 shows that licensing arrangements *of any kind* between licensed and unlicensed cannabis actors remained illegal until at least July 2017 when this amended law was passed to specifically decriminalize agreements of this kind. It also goes without saying that all other agreements with individuals or entities who are not licensed to sell,

process, or produce cannabis in Washington remain illegal to the extent the agreements further the sale or use of cannabis in Washington.

3. The Court of Appeals' Decision Fails to Recognize that Any Out-of-State Involvement in the Sale, Processing, or Production of Cannabis in Washington Remains Illegal

The Court of Appeals reasoned that "because the alleged licensing agreement never required Headspace to produce, process, or sell cannabis in Washington, nothing in the pre-amendment CSA specifically addressed this matter." (App. A at 11) This misconstrues how the CSA operates to except certain activity from liability, decriminalizing the activity and leaving all else subject to civil and criminal liability. *See supra*. Under this reasoning, all agreements with in-state, licensed cannabis actors for the production, processing, and sale of marijuana in Washington are lawful because the CSA after I-502 did not specifically address agreements. Of course, this cannot be so given the Legislator's intent to tightly control Washington's cannabis industry and keep it by and among in-state licensed actors.

Additionally, the Court of Appeals stated "[s]imilarly, because X-Tracted's processing and sale of cannabis was lawful, the licensing agreement did not make Headspace an accomplice to any wrongdoing." (App. A at 11) This fails to account for the fact that Washington's CSA criminalizes conspiracy to commit an offense of the CSA. RCW 69.50.407.

But for the existence of the amendments to the CSA in 2017, all agreements to produce, process or sell cannabis between licensed and unlicensed entities were illegal conspiracies in violation of RCW 69.50.407. If this were not true, i.e., if entities not licensed to sell, process, or produce cannabis in Washington could lawfully enter into agreements of any kind with licensed entities for the production, processing, and sale of cannabis in Washington, this would render meaningless the licensing and disclosure requirements of Washington's CSA. Indeed, the very purpose of I-502 was to "[t]ake[] marijuana out of the hands of illegal drug organizations and brings it under a tightly regulated, state-licensed system." LAWS OF 2013 ch. 3, § 1(3). The Court of Appeals' decision runs counter to that purpose because it sanctions agreements of any kind between licensed and unlicensed cannabis sellers, producers, and processors. In addition, by ruling that out-of-state entities can license intellectual property to directly aid the production of cannabis products, the Court of Appeals rendered the residency requirements of RCW 69.50 a nullity and has impaired the State's ability to regulate all parties who participate in the production of cannabis products in Washington.

B. If Washington's CSA Permits Out-of-State Intellectual Property Licensing, that Makes the Conduct Unlawful under Federal Law and Triggers Preemption

The practical impact of the Court of Appeals' decision is that it sanctions out-of-state involvement in the sale, processing, and production of cannabis. Any level of involvement by out-of-state entities in the sale, processing, or production of cannabis is unlawful under federal law, and to the extent Washington's CSA can be read to conflict with federal law, it is preempted.

1. The Commerce Clause Is Implicated by the Court of Appeals' Ruling Making the Conduct Unlawful Under Federal Law

Even if the Court of Appeals is correct that out-of-state trademark licensing does not violate state law, it most certainly violates federal law. This is because trademark licensing requires some amount of control over the character and quality of the product. By ruling that Headspace can lawfully control the production of cannabis products through a trademark license agreement to the extent necessary to establish trademark rights and thereby aid in the production of cannabis products from outside the state of

Washington (App. A at 16-17), the Court of Appeals has invited the federal government to intervene and prosecute other cannabis businesses engaged in similar activities.

Congress is not required to legislate with "scientific exactitude." *Gonzales v. Raich*, 545 U.S. 1, 17 (2005). "When Congress decides that the total incidence of a practice poses a threat to a national market, it may regulate the entire class." *Id.* (citations and quotations omitted) The U.S. Supreme Court in *Raich* held purely local cultivation and sale of marijuana elicited Congress' power to enforce the federal CSA under the Commerce Clause of the U.S. Constitution. *Id.* at 19.

Here, the Court of Appeals incorrectly ruled that interstate cooperation in the production of cannabis products is lawful, and as a consequence, ruled that Headspace may be able to establish valid trademark rights. This ruling is contrary to established Supreme Court precedent that even the most local activities furthering the production of cannabis products is unlawful under the federal CSA. Because *Raich* established that purely intrastate activities in furtherance in the production of marijuana triggers application of the federal CSA, then Headspace's sharing of proprietary information with the goal of producing cannabis-infused product *in another state* would no doubt do the same. *See e.g.*, 21 U.S.C. §§ 846 and 848(a).

Thus, the Court of Appeals' decision involves a significant question as to the potential reach of the Commerce Clause of the U.S. Constitution that this Court should resolve.

The Court of Appeals correctly acknowledged that Headspace "is an out-of-state company that is not permitted to obtain a license to produce, process, or sell marijuana products in Washington." (App. A at 10) However, the Court of Appeals erred when it ruled that Headspace's licensing agreement with XTL "does not necessarily require that Headspace participate in [XTL]'s processing of marijuana products." (Id. at 10-11) By providing proprietary information, know-how, and other guidance on how to create cannabis concentrates, Headspace is intimately involved in the production of marijuana products in Washington State, despite not being a resident who would otherwise be subject to the jurisdiction of the WSLCB.

2. The Court of Appeals' Ruling Creates Federal Preemption of the Amendments to Washington's CSA

The Court of Appeals' decision to sanction out-of-state involvement in Washington's cannabis industry conflicts with the federal CSA. This reading preempts the amendments to the CSA, undermining the legislative intent to avoid conflict with federal law. The Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution gives Congress "the power to pre-empt state law expressly."

Hillman v. Maretta, 569 U.S. 483, 490 (2013) (citations omitted)). "Congress did just that in the CSA, which contains an express preemption provision: state law is preempted whenever 'there is a positive conflict between [a] provision of th[e CSA] and [a] State law so that the two cannot consistently stand together." Or. Prescription Drug Monitoring Program v. United States DEA, 860 F.3d 1228, 1235-36 (9th Cir. 2017) (finding that 21 U.S.C. § 876 of the federal CSA preempts Oregon's statutory court order requirement). This is "an express invocation of conflict preemption," requiring a determination whether "compliance with both federal and state regulations is a physical impossibility," or the "state law stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes and objectives of Congress." Id. (quotations and citations omitted).

In this case, the Court of Appeals' decision arguably creates both kinds of conflict preemption. Out-of-state involvement in the processing of cannabis by trade-secret licensing or by trademark licensing is illegal under federal law, so if Washington law permits such agreements, compliance with federal law is an impossibility. Additionally, when an out-of-state actor furthers the production of cannabis in Washington, Washington's CSA "stands as an obstacle to the full implementation of the federal CSA because it interferes with the methods by which the federal statute was designed to

reach [its] goal." *Or. Prescription*, 860 F.3d at 1236 (9th Cir. 2017) (quotations and citations omitted). By enabling an out-of-state entity to expand the reach of its intellectual property that furthers activity illegal under federal law, the Court of Appeals' application of RCW 69.50 and RCW § 19.77.

Other states' regimes for governing medical and recreational marijuana use have been found to be preempted by the federal CSA. *See e.g., Raich*, 545 U.S. at 22 (holding "we have no difficulty concluding that Congress had a rational basis for believing that failure to regulate the intrastate manufacture and possession of marijuana would leave a gaping hole in the CSA.") (finding the federal CSA preempted California's medical marijuana regime); *Stubblefield v. Gonzales*, 150 F. App'x 630, 632 (9th Cir. 2005) ("...to the extent the [Oregon Medical Marijuana Act] may conflict, the CSA, if constitutional, preempts it. *Id.* at 2212-13 (citing U.S. Const. art. VI, § 1, cl.2)"); *see also People v. Crouse*, 388 P.3d 39, 42 (2017) (("...when law enforcement officers return marijuana in compliance with section 14(2)(e), they distribute marijuana in violation of the CSA.") (CO S. Ct. Jan. 23, 2017) (finding Colorado constitutional amendment preempted by CSA)).

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