FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/22/2019 11:37 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court Case No. 96598-6

(Court of Appeals, Division One, Case No. 77016-1-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HEADSPACE INTERNATIONAL, LLC, a limited liability company formed in the State of California,

Respondent,

V.

PODWORKS CORP., a corporation in the State of Washington; and THOMAS WERTH, an individual residing in the State of Washington,

Petitioners.

RESPONDENT HEADSPACE INTERNATIONAL, LLC'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

III. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Podworks seeks review of the Court of Appeals' unanimous decision that the trial court erred in barring Headspace's claims for trademark infringement, unfair competition, unfair business practices, and violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act. This Court should deny Podworks' petition for review for several reasons. First, Podworks fails to establish the criteria required for review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b) and RAP 13.4(c)(7). Second, Podworks raises new arguments that

not implicate interstate commerce and the Supremacy Clause, thereby inviting federal intervention" and that the Court of Appeals "acknowledged this intent" on page 10 of its opinion. Pet. at 4. More accurately, the Court of Appeals stated that "[t]o avoid conflicting with those federal interstate commerce laws and regulations prohibiting the possession and sale of marijuana products, licenses may not be issued to out-of-state companies or individuals." Op. at 10.

² For example, Podworks states that "[i]f an out-of-state entity is *directly* involved in Washington's cannabis industry, that clearly violates Washington's cannabis law and puts all parties to that transaction at risk of federal prosecution." Pet. at 4. Headspace objects to Podworks' inclusion of this in its Statement of Facts rather than its argument and also objects to the accuracy of the statement.

Additionally, Podworks cites to a non-legal authority—a Frequently Asked Question Section of the Washington State Liquor and Cannabis Board's (WSLCB) website—to support its statement that "the WSLCB prohibits an unlicensed third party from selling under its brand in the State." Pet. at 6. Headspace objects to Podworks' inclusion of this in its Statement of Facts rather than its argument and also objects to the accuracy of the source cited.

Lastly, Podworks states that "[w]ithout a Washington license, Headspace has not been able to legally make, process, sell or advertise cannabis in Washington." Pet. at 8. Podworks provides no citation for this statement. Headspace objects to Podworks' inclusion of this in its Statement of Facts rather than its argument and also objects to the accuracy of the statement.

were not considered by the Court of Appeals, including Washington's CSA and the federal Commerce Clause. Pet. at 14-19. Third, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that Headspace alleged lawful use of its trademark in Washington. Fourth, neither the federal Commerce Clause nor the Supremacy Clause is triggered by the Court of Appeals' well-reasoned Opinion.

A. <u>Podworks Fails to Establish the Criteria Required for Review by</u> this Court Under RAP 13.4(b) and RAP 13.4(c)(7).

Podworks has failed to explain in its Petition why review of the Court of Appeals' decision is merited under the specific criteria of RAP 13.4(b) and RAP 13.4(c)(7). In fact, Podworks merely cites RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4) in its "Issues Presented for Review" without offering an explanation of why it is referencing those provisions. Pet. at 2-3.3

This Court grants discretionary review only if the decision conflicts with a decision of this Court or with another decision of the Court of Appeals, or if the case involves a significant constitutional question or an issue of substantial public importance. RAP 13.4(b). Additionally, RAP 13.4(c)(7) requires that the argument section of a petition for review contain a "direct and concise statement of the reason why review should be accepted

³ Podworks only states deep in their argument section that "the Court of Appeals' decision involves a significant question as to the potential reach of the Commerce Clause of the U.S. Constitution that this Court should resolve" without any citation. Pet. at 16.

under one or more of the tests established in section (b), with argument." RAP 13.4(c)(7) (emphasis added).

Podworks' Petition woefully lacks compliance with both the letter and the spirit of these rules. 4 First, Podworks failed to provide the requisite argument justifying review in its Petition and thus review is not proper under RAP 13.4(c)(7). See In re Dependency of P.H.V.S., 184 Wn.2d 1017, 389 P.3d 460, 461-62 (2015) (denying review where movants failed to demonstrate that review was warranted under any of the criteria of RAP 13.4(b)); cf. State v. Korum, 157 Wn.2d 614, 624-25, 141 P.3d 13 (2006) (refusing to consider issue not included in "concise statement of the issues presented for review," as required by RAP 13.4(c)(5) State v. Collins, 121 Wn.2d 168, 178-79, 847 P.2d 919 (1993) (same). Second, The Court of Appeals' opinion is fully consistent with decisions of this Court as well as the Court of Appeals.⁵ Thus, review is not proper under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2). See RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Third, the opinion does not raise a significant constitutional question that warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Podworks raises the specter of the federal Commerce and Supremacy

⁴Podworks also omitted from its Petition "a table of cases (alphabetically arranged), statutes and other authorities cited, to the pages of the brief where cited," as required by RAP 13.4(c)(2), and "[a] reference to the Court of Appeals decision which [Podworks] wants reviewed" along with "the date of filing the decision," as required by RAP 13.4(c)(4).

⁵ Podworks cites zero cases from this Court or the Court of Appeals in its Petition.

Clauses, but ignores the sound principles of statutory construction applied by the Court of Appeals in its decision concluding that the licensing agreement at issue was lawful at its inception and remains lawful with the addition of RCW 69.50.395. Finally, the opinion does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

To conclude, the Court should deny Podworks' petition for review because they failed to demonstrate review was warranted under RAP 13.4(b) and 13.4(c)(7).

B. New Issues Raised in the Petition and Not Argued on Appeal Should Be Declined.

The issue before the Court of Appeals was whether the trial court erred in dismissing Headspace's complaint on the grounds that Headspace failed to allege lawful use of its mark in Washington. Op. at 1-3. Podworks argued in the Court of Appeals that X-Tracted's use of Headspace's mark "THE CLEAR" on cannabis products that X-Tracted produced and sold in Washington was only an indirect placement of the mark and thus not sufficient to satisfy Washington's trademark statute, chapter 19.77 RCW. Op. at 7. The Court of Appeals disagreed. Op. at 7-9. Podworks further argued that even if Headspace exercised sufficient control over the quality of the goods produced and sold by X-Tracted to satisfy the trademark statute, such control necessarily constituted a violation of Washington's Controlled Substances Act ("Washington's CSA"), chapter 69.50 RCW,

and, therefore, cannot satisfy the requirement of lawful placement of the mark in the ordinary course of business. Op. at 9. The Court of Appeals again disagreed. Op. at 9-11.

Podworks has not sought review of the former issue, thereby conceding that the Court of Appeals correctly resolved it. RAP 13.7(b); RAP 13.4(c)(5). In their Petition, Podworks raises two new arguments for the latter issue that were not considered by the Court of Appeals, including whether Washington's CSA implicates the federal Commerce Clause and Supremacy Clause (Issues 2 and 3 of its Issues Presented for Review). Pet. at 2-3; Pet. at 14-19; Resp't. Br. These new issues are not properly before this Court.

This Court generally declines to consider issues not properly before the Court, regardless of whether or not the arguments related thereto have merit. *See State v. Arredondo*, 188 Wn.2d 244, 262, 394 P.3d 348 (2017) (citing *State v. Duncan*, 185 Wn.2d 430, 435 n.2, 374 P.3d 83 (2016)); *see also State v. Brown*, 113 Wn.2d 520, 528-29, 782 P.2d 1013 (1989) (declining to decide whether a jury instruction containing both a permissible *and* impermissible purpose under ER 404(b) was a basis for reversal when the issue was not properly argued on appeal). An issue is not properly before this Court when it was not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals. *State*

v. Simms, 171 Wn.2d 244, 249, 250 P.3d 107 (2011) (citing State v. Halstien, 122 Wn.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993)).

To conclude, without waiving the arguments above that Podworks failed to justify review under RAP 13.4(b) and (c)(7), Headspace asks that this court, at a minimum, decline to consider Issues 2 and 3 in Podworks' Petition because they were not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals. Pet. at 2-3. This leaves only Issue 1 in Podworks' Petition to consider.

- C. Review of Issue 1 Should be Denied Because: (i) Podworks Fails to Establish Grounds for its Review, (ii) Podworks Adds Language Not Found in the CSA, and (iii) Recent Amendments to the CSA Affirm Trademark Licensing Agreements as Lawful.
 - 1. Podworks fails to establish grounds for review of Issue 1.

Podworks fails to establish grounds for review of Issue 1. Podworks reasserts the same arguments it made previously without providing authority showing how the Court of Appeals erred or misapplied the law. This is detrimental for obtaining review of Issue 1. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2).

The Court of Appeals determined that Headspace alleged lawful use of its mark in Washington by applying well-settled principles of law for statutory construction. Under the CSA, for conduct to be unlawful in Washington it must be an act specifically prohibited, e.g., the possession, manufacture, and delivery of any controlled substance identified in the CSA, or the unlicensed production, processing, or selling of marijuana. RCW 69.50.401. The Court of Appeals unanimously agreed that nothing in

the licensing agreement between Headspace and X-Tracted requires Headspace to produce, process, or sell cannabis in Washington or participate in X-Tracted's processing of marijuana products. Op. at 10-12. Podworks' Petition does not sufficiently challenge this. Pet. at 12. Podworks failure to sufficiently challenge the Court of Appeals' position on this issue results in forfeiture of the issue by Podworks and this Court must not consider it. *See Arredondo*, 188 Wn.2d at 262; *State v. Young*, 89 Wn.2d 613, 625, 574 P.2d 1171 (1978) (if a party does not provide a citation to support an asserted proposition, courts "may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found [no supporting authority]") (quoting *DeHeer v. Seattle Post-Intelligencer*, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193 (1962)); *see also* RAP 10.3(a)(6) (arguments made must include supporting "citations to legal authority").

To conclude, Podworks fails to establish grounds for review of Issue 1 on its Issues Presented for Review and the Court should deny its review. If the Court chooses the alternative, the following paragraphs are presented to rebut Podworks' Issue 1 on the grounds that: (i) Podworks adds language not found in the Washington CSA to justify an erroneous interpretation of the act; and (ii) the recent amendments issued under ESSB 5131 affirms trademark licensing agreements as lawful.

2. Podworks adds language not found in the Washington CSA to justify an erroneous interpretation of the act.

Podworks argues that any intellectual property licensing agreement with an out-of-state company is unlawful under Washington law. Pet. at 9. Podworks arrives at this erroneous result by concluding that a trademark licensing agreement is conduct that furthers the sale, processing, or production of cannabis, and such conduct is not listed in RCW 69.50.360, 69.50.363, or 69.50.366, so therefore, the conduct violates Washington's CSA. Pet. at 9. This is absurd. Podworks' conclusion is not found in any case law or in the text of Washington's CSA. RCW 69.50.401. Nonetheless, Podworks attempts to convince the Court that the trademark licensing agreement between Headspace and X-Tracted is illegal under Washington's CSA. Pet. at 9. Podworks provides no citation that holds their position and no clause under Washington's CSA states it. *See* RCW 69.50.401. Podworks' position is wrong and they arrived at it by creatively misinterpreting Washington's CSA.

The text of Washington's CSA is clear. It prohibits the possession, manufacture, and delivery of any controlled substance but excludes "[t]he production, manufacture, processing, packaging, delivery, distribution, sale, or possession of marijuana in compliance with the terms set forth in RCW 69.50.360, 69.50.363, or 69.50.366." RCW 69.50.401(1);

69.50.401(3). Podworks' attempts to add language to Washington's CSA where language does not exist. See e.g., Pet. at 4, 6, 8, 13, 14. Podworks' subsequent legal conclusion would lead to illogical results: the sale of books, grow lights, fertilizers, water timers, extraction pipets, and other proprietary technologies that further the sale, processing, or production of cannabis would all become illegal in Washington State. Podworks' additional language and erroneous legal conclusion are not stated in the Washington CSA nor are they what the Washington legislation intended.

Podworks attempts to cite RCW 69.50.331(1)(b)(iii) for the erroneous argument that since Headspace is an out-of-state company they must have conducted unlawful business in Washington under the CSA. Pet. at 10. There are two problems with Podworks argument. First, Headspace was not producing, processing, or selling cannabis in Washington state. *See*, Op. at 6, 10, 11. Second, Podworks is, again, adding words not found in

⁶ The Petition is peppered with additional phrases Podworks uses to try to describe the trademark licensing agreement and paint it as unlawful under Washington law. Such phrases include: "directly involved in Washington's cannabis industry" (Pet. at 4 (emphasis in original)); "participate in the Washington cannabis industry" (Pet. at 6); "make, process, sell or *advertise* cannabis" (Pet. at 8 (emphasis added)); "directly aid the production of cannabis products" (Pet. at 13); and "participate in the production of cannabis products in Washington" (Pet. at 14). None of these phrases are actually used in Washington's CSA, nor are they necessarily covered in its prohibition of the possession, manufacture, and delivery of any controlled substance.

Moreover, Podworks has failed to even explain how the trademark licensing agreement equates to "conduct further[ing]," "directly aid[ing]" or "participat[ing] in" the production of cannabis.

69.50.331(1)(b)(iii).⁷ Pet. at 10. Nowhere does the statute preclude out-of-state intellectual property licensing agreements. *See id.*; RCW 69.50.360, .363, .366. Podworks' erroneous argument would have this Court outlaw the sale and distribution of cannabis related books, grow lights, fertilizers, water timers, and other proprietary technologies simply because they come from out-of-state companies and further the sale, processing, or production of cannabis.

To conclude, Podworks adds language not found in the Washington CSA to justify an erroneous interpretation of the act. The text of Washington's CSA is clear and the Court of Appeals correctly determined that Headspace sufficiently alleged lawful use of its mark in Washington.

3. Recent Amendments to the CSA Affirm Trademark Licensing Agreements as Lawful.

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Engrossed Substitute Senate Bill (ESSB) 5131, codified as RCW 69.50.395, affirms trademark licensing agreements as lawful. Podworks attempts to argue that ESSB 5131 implies that trademark licensing agreements were illegal prior

⁷ The statute states that "[n]o license of any kind may be issued to . . . (iii) A partnership, employee cooperative, association, nonprofit corporation, or corporation unless formed under the laws of this state, and unless all of the members thereof are qualified to obtain a license as provided in this section" RCW 69.50.331(1)(b)(iii).

to its enactment.⁸ Podworks is wrong. Nowhere in the text of ESSB 5131 does it retroactively make prior trademark licensing agreements illegal.⁹ RCW 69.50.395.

The Court of Appeals applied sound principles of statutory construction established by this Court, including a rebuttable presumption that a legislative amendment is presumed to change the law rather than clarify existing law. Op. at 11-15 (citing *Jane Roe v. TeleTech Customer Care Mgmt. (Colorado) LLC*, 171 Wn.2d 736, 751, 257 P.3d 586 (2011)). The Court of Appeals also considered the statements of individual lawmakers, especially bill sponsors, as evidence of the reasons for the legislative amendment. Op. at 12 (citing *In re Marriage of Kovacs*, 121 Wn.2d 795, 807-08, 854 P.2d 629 (1993)). After an extensive review of the legislative history, the Court of Appeals concluded that it was "devoid of any indication that the legislature sought to make legal any licensing

_

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